
 
 

 
 

 

COUNCIL MEETING - 30 JUNE 2022 
 
 

 

Councillors of the London Borough of Islington are summoned to attend a meeting of the 
Council to be held in the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on 
 30 June 2022 at 7.30 pm. 
 

 

 

 
 

Chief Executive 
 

AGENDA 
 

 

  Page 
 

1.  Minutes 1 - 14 

 To approve the minutes of the Annual Council meeting held on 26 May 
2022. 

 

 

2.  Declarations of Interest  

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it 
becomes apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in 
the discussion and vote on the item. 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; 
including from a trade union. 

(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between 
you or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial 
interest) and the council. 

(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.  

(e)  Licences - Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month 
or longer. 

(f)   Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in 
which you or your partner have a beneficial interest. 

(g)   Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a 
place of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value 
of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   

 

This applies to all members present at the meeting. 
 

3.  Mayoral Announcements  

 (i) Apologies 
(ii) Order of business 
(iii) Declaration of discussion items  

(iv) Mayor’s announcements  
(v) Length of speeches 

 

 

4.  Leader's Announcements  
 

5.  Petitions  
 

6.  Questions from Members of the Public 15 - 18 
 

7.  Questions from Members of the Council 19 - 22 

 

8.  Islington Armed Forces Community Covenant - Annual Update 23 - 34 
 

9.  Chief Whip's Report TO FOLLOW 
 

10.  Constitution Update TO FOLLOW 
 

11.  Notices of Motion 35 - 42 

 Where a motion concerns an executive function, nothing passed can be 
actioned until approved by the Executive or an officer with the relevant 

delegated power. 
 
Motion 1: Fair votes now 
Motion 2: Save Islington’s buses 
Motion 3: Welcoming refugees, migrants and asylum seekers to Islington 
Motion 4: Solidarity with Ukraine migrants in Islington 

 



 
 
 

 
 
 

Enquiries to : Jonathan Moore 

Tel : 020 7527 3308 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 22 June 2022 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 26 May 2022 

LONDON BOROUGH OF ISLINGTON 
 

ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETING -  26 MAY 2022 
 
 

 
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 

 

At the meeting of the Annual Council held at Council Chamber, Town Hall, Upper 
Street, N1 2UD on  26 May 2022 at 7.30 pm. 
 
 

Present: 
 

Bell-Bradford 

Bossman-Quarshie 
Burgess 
Champion 

Chapman 
Chowdhury 
Cinko-Oner 

Clarke 
Comer-Schwartz 
Convery 

Croft 
Gallagher 
Gilgunn 
Gill 

Graham 
 

Hamdache 

Hayes 
Heather 
Hyde 

Ibrahim 
Jackson 
Jegorovas-Armstrong 

Khondoker 
Khurana 
Mackmurdie 

McHugh 
Nargund 
Nathan 
Ngongo 

North 
 

O'Halloran 

O'Sullivan 
Ogunro 
Ozdemir 

Poyser 
Russell 
Spall 

Staff 
Turan 
Ward 

Wayne 
Weekes 
Williamson 
Woolf 

Zammit 
 

 

 
The Mayor (Councillor Gallagher) in the Chair 

 

 
1 MAYORAL ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
(a) Apologies  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Craig, Kay, Klute, Pandor and Shaikh.  
 

(b) Declaration of interests 
 
None.  
 

(c) Order of Business  
 
The Mayor advised that the order of business would be as per the agenda.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

(d) Mayor’s Announcements  
 
The Mayor welcomed all new councillors who had been elected in the May 2022 local 
elections. The Mayor said it was fantastic to see so many councillors in the Council Chamber. 
It was the first time the Chamber was at full capacity since the start of the pandemic in 
March 2020.  
 
The Mayor highlighted several recent events he had attended. The Mayor was delighted to 
present awards to local people at the Civic Awards ceremony in March. The awards 
showcased the wonderful work being done across the borough and the very best of 
Islington.  
 
The Mayor had celebrated the contribution of the Irish community in Islington by attending a 
number of special events throughout March. The Mayor had also attended the Irish Embassy, 
who had hosted a celebration of the mayoral charity, ICAP, on their 25 th anniversary.  
 
The Mayor was honoured to attend the national day of reflection on the Covid-19 pandemic 
from the steps of Islington Town Hall on 23 March.  
 
The Mayor had participated in a number of Iftars across the borough and across London, 
commenting that the Street Iftar at Finsbury Park was particularly poignant. 
 
The Mayor had celebrated St George’s Day by leading the flag raising event at Islington 
Town Hall and had joined Islington Veterans Association at their monthly breakfast club. The 
Mayor had also joined a service of remembrance for Anzac Day, and had attended the Polish 
Airman’s Association for their annual Easter lunch with veterans.   
 
The Mayor has attended the Islington Tribune summit on Violence Against Women and Girls 
alongside the Leader and others. The Mayor was pleased to contribute to the discussion and 
action plan going forward. 
 
The Mayor was delighted to host a fundraising tour of the Tower of London, and had joined 
other mayors for the annual Macmillan Volunteers Gala dinner. The Mayor was also honoured 
to open the markets at the London Stock Exchange to celebrate the contribution of the Irish 
community to London and to raise awareness and profile of the mayoral charities.  
 
The Mayor had attended the Royal Garden Party at Buckingham Palace. The Mayor was also 
delighted to lead the annual Whittington Walk from Whittington Hospital to Mansion House 
with all London Borough Mayors and Lord Mayors. 
 
The Mayor had visited the National Autistic Society on City Road to learn more about the 
challenges people with autism face. The Mayor noted the importance of public services being 
inclusive for all.  The Mayor had also re-opened the school library at Prior Weston School, 
had attended St Joseph’s Hospice with the Speaker of Hackney, and had visited Pentonville 
Prison to discuss the mental health challenges faced by those in the justice system.  

 
2 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 3 March 2022 be agreed as a correct 
record and the Mayor be authorised to sign them.  

Page 2



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

 
3 ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE YOUNG MAYOR AND YOUNG DEPUTY MAYOR  

This item was deferred to a future meeting.  

 

4 VOTE OF THANKS AND PRESENTATION OF COMMEMORATIVE BADGES TO 
OUTGOING MAYOR AND CONSORT  
Councillor Bossman-Quarshie moved a vote of thanks to the outgoing Mayor, Councillor 
Gallagher. The vote of thanks was seconded by Councillor Mackmurdie. It was commented 
that the Mayor had made a significant contribution to the borough over the past year. The 
Mayor had worked to celebrate and champion the borough’s Irish and LGBTQ+ communities, 
and had helped to raise awareness of mental health issues and causes.  
 
The Mayor thanked his fellow councillors, commenting that it was an honour and privilege to 
be the first Irish born Mayor of Islington. The Mayor spoke about the importance of the 
mayoralty and the positive impact that the Mayor can have on local people and the borough’s 
communities. The Mayor spoke about the work of his charities, forum+, ICAP and James’ 
Place; and thanked all of those who had supported him during the year.  
 

 
5 TO ELECT THE MAYOR OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF ISLINGTON FOR THE 

ENSUING MUNICIPAL YEAR  
Councillor Poyser, seconded by Councillor Ngongo, moved that Councillor Spall be elected as 
the Mayor for the ensuing municipal year.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That Councillor Spall be elected as the Mayor of the London Borough of Islington for 
2022/23.  
 
The Council adjourned while Councillor Spall was invested with the robes of office. 
 

-- 
 

The Mayor (Councillor Spall) in the Chair 
 
 

6 DECLARATION OF ACCEPTANCE OF OFFICE BY THE MAYOR  
The Mayor accepted by office by making the required declaration.  
 
The Mayor advised that her consort would be Helen Spall.  
 
The Mayor thanked her colleagues, friends and family. The Mayor congratulated Councillor 
Gallagher on his year as Mayor. The Mayor announced that her charities would be Ronald 
Macdonald House and the Whittington Health Charity.  
 

 

7 APPOINTMENT OF THE DEPUTY MAYOR  
The Mayor appointed Councillor Heather to the role of Deputy Mayor.  
 
Councillor Clarke was appointed as the Deputy Mayor’s Consort.  

 

Page 3



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

 
 

 
8 ELECTION OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  

Councillor Ward moved that Councillor Comer-Schwartz be elected Leader of the Council. 
Councillor Ogunro seconded. The motion was put to the vote and CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Councillor Comer-Schwartz be elected Leader of the Council.   
 
The Leader thanked her fellow councillors and spoke about her priorities; including tackling 
inequality; making Islington the best place for young people to grow up; creating a cleaner, 
greener, healthier borough for all; addressing the climate emergency and the cost of living 
crisis; building new genuinely affordable homes, and supporting people into work.  

 
9 APPOINTMENT OF THE DEPUTY LEADER AND THE EXECUTIVE  

Councillor Comer-Schwartz introduced the paper, welcomed new members of the Executive, 
and paid tribute to councillors who had stood down from the Executive.  
 
The Council noted the following appointments made by Councillor Comer-
Schwartz as Leader of the Council:  
 

 Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Finance, Planning and Performance - Cllr 
Diarmaid Ward 

 Executive Member for Inclusive Economy and Jobs - Cllr Santiago Bell-Bradford 
 Executive Member for Environment, Air Quality & Transport - Cllr Rowena Champion 
 Executive Member for Equalities, Culture & Inclusion - Cllr Roulin Khondoker 
 Executive Member for Children, Young People & Families - Cllr Michelline Safi Ngongo 
 Executive Member for Homes and Communities - Cllr Una O’Halloran 
 Executive Member for Health and Social Care - Cllr Nurullah Turan 
 Executive Member for Community Safety - Cllr John Woolf 

 
10 CONSTITUTION UPDATE  

Councillor Hyde moved the recommendations in the report. The recommendations were put 
to the vote and CARRIED.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the amendments to the Constitution, set out in the appendices to the report, be agreed.  

 
11 CALCULATION OF POLITICAL BALANCE (PROPORTIONALITY)  

Councillor Hyde moved the recommendations in the report. The recommendations 

were put to the vote and CARRIED.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 

(i) That the Council note the political balance of the Council is:  

- 48 Members of the Labour Group  

- 3 Members of the Green Group  

Page 4



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

 

(ii) That the allocation of seats be approved, in order to comply with the political 

balance regulations requiring seats to be allocated proportionately to the 

political groups on the Councill, as detailed in the report submitted.  

 

12 APPOINTMENT OF COUNCILLORS TO POLITICAL POSITIONS AND THE 
APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRS AND VICE CHAIRS AND MEMBERSHIP OF 
COMMITTEES  

Councillor Hyde moved the recommendations in the report. The recommendations 
were put to the vote and CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED:  
 

(i) That Council note that the Labour group have notified the following 

appointments:  

Leader of Group Councillor Kaya Comer-Schwartz 

Deputy Leader of Group Councillor Rowena Champion 
Chief Whip Councillor Sara Hyde 

Deputy Whips Councillors Anjna Khurana & Jason Jackson  

Chair of Group Councillor David Poyser 

Vice-Chair Councillor Angelo Weekes 

Secretary Councillor Jilani Chowdhury  

Treasurer Councillor Satnam Gill 

Social Secretary Councillor Phil Graham 

Ordinary Member Posts Councillors Gary Heather & Bashir Ibrahim  

 

(ii) That Council note that the Green group have notified the following 
appointments:  

Leader of Group Councillor Caroline Russell  

Deputy Leader of Group Councillor Ernestas Jegorovas-Armstrong 

Group Business Manager  Councillor Benali Hamdache 

 
(iii) That the following appointments be made to the Policy and Performance 

Committee for 2022/23 or until successors are appointed:  

 
POLICY & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE (16 Councillors) 
 

Councillor Jenny Kay (Chair) 

Councillor Gulcin Ozdemir (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Jilani Chowdhury  
Councillor Jason Jackson 

Councillor Tricia Clarke  
Councillor Sheila Chapman 
Councillor Gary Heather 

Councillor Heather Staff 

Councillor Hannah McHugh 

Councillor Praful Nargund 
Councillor Saiqa Pandor 
Councillor Matt Nathan  

Councillor Angelo Weekes 
Councillor Bashir Ibrahim  
Councillor Phil Graham  

Councillor Caroline Russell 

Page 5



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

 

 
Substitutes:  

Councillor Janet Burgess 

Councillor Dave Poyser 
Councillor Nick Wayne   

Councillor Troy Gallagher 

Councillor Benali Hamdache 
 

  

  
(iv)That the following appointments be made to the remaining committees for 

2022/23 or until successors are appointed:  

 

CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (8 Councillors) 
Councillor Sheila Chapman (Chair) Councillor Fin Craig  
Councillor Valerie Bossman-Quarshie (Vice Chair) Councillor Gulcin Ozdemir 

Councillor Rosaline Ogunro    Councillor Saiqa Pandor   
Councillor Ernestas Jegorovas-Armstrong Councillor Janet Burgess 
 

Co-opted Members for Education related issues: 

 Roman Catholic Diocese – Mary Clement 
Parent Governor Representative (Primary) – Jon Stansfield 

Parent Governor Representative (Secondary) – Zaleera Wallace 

 

 

 

Substitutes: 

Councillor Jilani Chowdhury   Councillor Paul Convery   
Councillor Praful Nargund  Councillor Toby North   
Councillor Ilkay Cinko-Oner Councillor Caroline Russell  
 

 
ENVIRONMENT & REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (9 Councillors) 
Councillor Tricia Clarke (Chair) Councillor Ruth Hayes 

Councillor Gary Heather (Vice Chair) Councillor Claire Zammit   
Councillor Clare Jeapes Councillor Angelo Weekes  
Councillor Fin Craig Councillor Ernestas Jegorovas-Armstrong   

Councillor Mick Gilgunn  

Page 6



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

 

 
 
 

HEALTH AND CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (8 Councillors)  
Councillor Jilani Chowdhury (Chair) Councillor Fin Craig 
Councillor Joseph Croft (Vice Chair) Councillor Mick Gilgunn  

Councillor Clare Jeapes    Councillor Claire Zammit  
Councillor Tricia Clarke  Councillor Caroline Russell 
 
Substitutes: 

 

Councillor Janet Burgess  Councillor Dave Poyser 
Councillor Nick Wayne  Councillor Benali Hamdache  
 

  
HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (8 Councillors) 
Councillor Jason Jackson (Chair) Councillor Mick O’Sullivan 

Councillor Marian Spall (Vice Chair) Councillor Mick Gilgunn 
Councillor Rosaline Ogunro   Councillor Ilkay Cinko-Oner  
Councillor Valerie Bossman-Quarshie Councillor Benali Hamdache  

 
Substitutes: 

 

Councillor Jilani Chowdhury  Councillor Phil Graham  

Councillor Ben Mackmurdie  Councillor Ernestas Jegorovas-
Armstrong  

 
Resident Observers:  

Rose-Marie McDonald  
Dean Donaghey  
 

 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE (4 Councillors and 2 Independent Members, as below)  

Councillor Nick Wayne (Chair) Councillor Janet Burgess 
Councillor Flora Williamson (Vice Chair) Councillor Sara Hyde  
  

Substitutes:   
Councillor Angelo Weekes 
Councillor Satnam Gill  

 

 
Independent Members: 
Alan Begg 
Alan Finch  

Substitutes:  
Councillor Praful Nargund Councillor Caroline Russell  

  
  

Page 7



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD (15 members, as below) 
Members of the Board are also members of the Haringey and Islington Health and Wellbeing Boards Joint Sub-Committee, with 
the exception of the representatives of NHS England and Islington GP Federation.  
Councillors: 

Councillor Kaya Comer-Schwartz (Chair) 
Councillor Nurullah Turan  
Councillor Michelline Safi Ngongo 
 

Officers:  
Jonathan O’Sullivan – Acting Director of Public Health  
Jon Abbey – Director of Children’s Services  

John Everson – Director of Adult Social Care   
 
Representatives of the North Central London Clinical Commissioning Group:  

Dr John McGrath  – Governing Body representative   
Clare Henderson – Executive Director representative  
 

Representative of Healthwatch Islington: 
Emma Whitby – Chief Executive, Healthwatch Islington (non-voting) 
 

Representatives of the NHS: 
Dr Helene Brown, Medical Director, NHS England (non-voting) 
To be advised - Camden and Islington NHS Trust (non-voting) 
To be advised - Whittington NHS Trust (non-voting) 

 
Voluntary Sector Representative:  
Katy Porter, Manor Gardens Welfare Trust (non-voting) 

 
Islington GP Federation:  
Michael Clowes, Chief Executive, Islington GP Federation (non-voting) 

 

Substitutes may attend meetings subject to prior agreement of the Chair.  

Councillor Substitutes: 

Councillor Una O’Halloran Councillor John Woolf 
Councillor Roulin Khondoker  Councillor Diarmaid Ward 
Councillor Rowena Champion Councillor Santiago Bell-Bradford   

  
Officer Substitutes:  
For Jonathan O’Sullivan – Charlotte Ashton, Islington Deputy Director of Public Health 
For John Everson  – Jill Britton, Acting Director of Strategic Commissioning and Investment   

For Jon Abbey – Laura Eden, Director of Safeguarding and Family Support  

Page 8



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

 
Clinical Commissioning Group Substitutes:  

For Clare Henderson – Sarah McDonnell-Davies, Executive Director for Borough Partnerships  
 
Healthwatch Islington Substitute: 

For Emma Whitby – Jennifer Kent, Healthwatch Islington 
 
NHS Substitutes: 
For Dr Helene Brown – Dr Hasz Sonigra, Associate Medical Director, NHS England 

To be advised - Camden and Islington NHS Trust  
To be advised - Whittington NHS Trust  
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE (10 Councillors) 
Councillor Martin Klute (Chair) Councillor Hannah McHugh 

Councillor Dave Poyser (Vice Chair) Councillor Ruth Haynes  
Councillor Toby North (Vice Chair) Councillor Jason Jackson 
Councillor Tricia Clarke Councillor Bashir Ibrahim   

Councillor Paul Convery Councillor Benali Hamdache  
 
Substitutes:   

Councillor Jilani Chowdhury  Councillor Jenny Kay 
Councillor Mick Gilgunn Councillor Ernestas Jegorovas-Armstrong  
  

 

LICENSING COMMITTEE (15 Councillors)  
Councillor Angelo Weekes (Chair) Councillor Matt Nathan 
Councillor Valerie Bossman-Quarshie (Vice Chair) Councillor Nick Wayne 

Councillor Marian Spall Councillor Anjna Khurana   
Councillor Heather Staff Councillor Phil Graham 
Councillor Asima Shaikh  Councillor Paul Convery 

Councillor Ben Mackmurdie Councillor Flora Williamson 
Councillor Joseph Croft Councillor Praful Nargund 
Councillor Ernestas Jegorovas-Armstrong  

 
 
LICENSING REGULATORY COMMITTEE (4 Councillors) 

Councillor Marian Spall (Chair) Councillor Martin Klute 
Councillor Phil Graham (Vice-Chair) Councillor Asima Shaikh  
  
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE (4 Councillors and 2 Independent Persons) 
Councillor Sara Hyde (Chair) Councillor Jason Jackson 
Councillor Anjna Khurana  Councillor Satnam Gill  

  
Independent Persons (non-voting members of the committee):  
Luke Rigg  

Robert Milne  

Page 9



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

 
GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE  (5 Councillors) 

Councillor Sara Hyde (Chair)  Councillor Janet Burgess  
Councillor Diarmaid Ward  Councillor Flora Williamson    
Councillor Heather Staff   

 
 
GRIEVANCE APPEAL COMMITTEE (5 Councillors) 
Councillor Anjna Khurana (Chair) Councillor Bashir Ibrahim 

Councillor Rowena Champion  Councillor Dave Poyser 
Councillor Martin Klute   
  

INVESTIGATING AND DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE (5 Councillors) 
Councillor Nick Wayne (Chair) Councillor Praful Nargund  
Councillor Nurullah Turan Councillor Ben Mackmurdie  

Councillor Una O’Halloran 
 

 

DISCIPLINARY APPEAL COMMITTEE (5 Councillors) 

Councillor Jason Jackson (Chair) Councillor Troy Gallagher 
Councillor Michelline Safi Ngongo Councillor Saiqa Pandor  
Councillor Satnam Gill  

  
 

(v) That the following appointments be made for 2022/23 or until successors are 
appointed:  

 
FOSTERING PANEL AND ADOPTION AND PERMANENCE PANEL  
 

Councillor Paul Convery 
 
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD  

Councillor Michelline Safi Ngongo (Chair) Councillor Saiqa Pandor 
Councillor Sheila Chapman Councillor Toby North   
Councillor Flora Williamson  

 
STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION (SACRE)  
Revd David Allen - Church of England Representative (Chair) 

Mary Thorne - Church of England Representative  
Harifa Begum - Teacher Association Representative 
Damien Parrott - Teacher Association Representative  
Ann Dwulit - Teacher Association Representative 

Michele Lambert - Teacher Association Representative 
Eleanor Sutherland - Teacher Association Representative  
Revd Tim Bradshaw – Religious Representative  

Parul Monnan - Religious Representative 
Tracey Peters - Religious Representative 
Teddy Prout - Religious Representative 

Vinay Shah - Religious Representative  

Page 10



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

Naomi Ter-Berg - Religious Representative 
Cllr Michelline Safi Ngongo – Local authority representative  

Cllr Sheila Chapman – Local authority representative  
Cllr Fin Craig – Local authority representative (substitute)  
Cllr Flora Williamson – Local authority representative (substitute)  

 
 
JOINT TMO LIAISON COMMITTEE  
Councillor Mick O’Sullivan 

 
MEMBER CHAMPIONS 
 

Carers Champion – Councillor Janet Burgess   
Equalities Champions – Councillor Anjna Khurana 
Arts Champion – Councillor Claire Zammit 

Armed Forces Champion – Councillor Troy Gallagher 
Mental Health Champion – Councillor Joseph Croft 
Reading Champion – Councillor Valerie Bossman-Quarshie  

Recycling Champion – Councillor Clare Jeapes 
Small Business, Co-ops and Social Enterprise Champion – Councillor Matt Nathan   
Women and Girls Champion – Councillor Saiqa Pandor 

Private Renters Champion – Councillor Jenny Kay  
Migrants Champion – Councillors Heather Staff & Ilkay Cinko-Oner (Job Share)   
Young People’s Champion – Councillor Bashir Ibrahim  
 

 
13 APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES TO SERVE ON OUTSIDE 

ORGANISATIONS  

Councillor Hyde moved the recommendations in the report. The recommendations 
were put to the vote and CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED:  
 

(i) That the following list of appointments to outside bodies for 2022/23, for the 

remainder of the year or until successors are appointed, be agreed: 
 

Outside Body Term of Office Member(s) 

London Council Committees: 

Leaders Committee One Year Leader: Cllr Comer-Schwartz  
 

Deputies: 

Cllr Champion 

Cllr Ward 
 

Associated Joint 
Committee - 
Transport and 

One Year Cllr Rowena Champion 
 

Deputies: 

Page 11



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

Environment 
Committee 

Cllr Phil Graham 

Cllr Poyser 
 

London Councils Forums: 

Greater London 

Employment 
 

One Year Cllr Ward 

Deputy: Cllr Bell-Bradford 

Local Government Association: 

LGA General 

Assembly 

One Year 

 

Cllr Comer-Schwartz 

Cllr Champion 

Cllr O’Halloran  

Cllr Ward 

Others: 

Angel Business 
Improvement Board 

One Year Cllr Klute  

Archway Town 
Centre Management 

Board 

One Year Cllr Burgess 

Cllr Chapman 
 

Armed Forces 
Community 

Covenant Grant 
Schemes Panel 

One Year 
 

Cllr O’Halloran 

Cllr Gallagher 

Cross River 
Partnership 

One Year Cllr Bell-Bradford 

Finsbury Park Town 

Centre Management 
Group 

One Year Cllr Heather 

 

Groundwork London 
Local Authority 
Strategic Board 

One Year Cllr Champion 

 

Islington Community 

Chest Panel 

One Year  Cllr O’Halloran 

Cllr Zammit 

Cllr Bossman-Quarshie 

Substitute: Cllr Woolf 

London Road Safety 
Council 

One Year Cllr Champion 

Deputy: Cllr Gilgunn 

Nags Head Town 
Centre Management 

Group 

One Year Cllr Heather 

Cllr Zammit 

Newable  
 

One Year Cllr Bell-Bradford 

North London Waste 
Authority 

One Year Cllr Champion 

Cllr Ward 

Reserve Forces and 
Cadets  

One Year  Cllr Gallagher 

Page 12



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

Safer 
Neighbourhoods 
Boards 

One Year Cllr Woolf 

Cllr Jackson 

 

 
(ii) That the following list of appointments to outside bodies to take effect on the 

date indicated, for the term of office indicated, or until successors are 

appointed, be agreed: 
 

Outside body Member(s) Term of 

Office  

Date 

Appointment 
to take effect 

Camden and Islington 
NHS Foundation Trust 

Cllr Shaikh Three years June 2022 

Central London 
Forward 

Cllr Comer-Schwartz 
Cllr Bell-Bradford 

Two years May 2022 

Clerkenwell Charities Cllr Nathan 

Cllr Hayes 

Four year 

term 

September 2022 

Dame Alice Owens Cllr Comer-Schwartz 
Cllr Safi Ngongo 

Three years May 2022 

Finsbury Park Trust Cllr Heather 
Deputy: Cllr Shaikh 

Three year 
term 

December 2022 

Islington United 

Charities 

Cllr Safi Ngongo 

Cllr McHugh 

Four year 

term 

September 2022 

Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
on Health 

Cllr Clarke 
Cllr Chowdhury 

Four year 
term 

May 2022 

Pensions Board Cllr Poyser Four year 
term 

May 2022 

Richard Reeves 

Foundation 

Cllr Ozdemir Four year 

term 

May 2022 

Sadlers Wells 
Foundation 

Cllr Hyde Three year 
term 

May 2022 

Schools Forum Cllr Weekes Four year 
term 

May 2022 

St Lukes Trustee Ltd Cllr Hayes 

Cllr Ogunro 

Four year 

term 

June 2022 

St Sepulchre United 
Charities 
 

 

Cllr Mackmurdie 
Cllr Graham 

Four year 
term 

May 2022 

University College 
Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Cllr Gill Three year 
term 

June 2022 

 
 

The meeting closed at 8.45 pm 

Page 13



London Borough of Islington 

 26 May 2022 

 
 

MAYOR 
 

Page 14



 

COUNCIL MEETING – 30 JUNE 2022  
 
 

 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 
 

a 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

b  

 
 

Julien Etienne to Cllr Champion, Executive Member for Environment, 
Air Quality and Transport:   
 

With a rapidly worsening climate crisis, Islington could soon experience an 
extreme heatwave such as that which affected British Columbia in Canada last 
Summer where temperatures came close to 50 degrees Celsius. The current 
Cool Spaces map lists no local indoor cool spaces in which Islington residents 

could take refuge in such an event. Does the Council have a plan to keep people 
safe in the event of a major heatwave? 
 

Rebekah Kelly to Cllr Ngongo, Executive Member for Children, Young 
People and Families: 
 

Community safety is a serious concern for many residents, as most have been 
impacted in some way by crime or anti social behaviour. Would the £21,000 
paid to change Islington Council's logo be better off spent toward tackling youth 

crime that is prevalent on the streets of Islington and what is the plan to 
address this issue? 

c John Hartley to Cllr Champion, Executive Member for Environment, Air 
Quality and Transport: 
 

I am asking this question on behalf of Low Traffic Islington (Barnsbury St. 
Mary’s). Now that the May elections are over, we are pleased to see that the 
Council consists entirely of Councillors committed to the Policy of encouraging 

Sustainable Transport modes and reducing unnecessary motor vehicle usage 
and though traffic in our Borough by measures including the roll-out of Liveable 
Neighbourhoods.    

 
Our area suffers terribly from though traffic, and you may have seen the Green 
Hearts of support for action to be taken, particularly in places such as Offord 

Road. 
 
Our group has already submitted ideas on how the area bounded by the A1, 

Caledonian Road and Pentonville Road can be made a more Liveable 
Neighbourhood and we are keen to contribute to the Engagement and Design 
Process for our long-promised Low Traffic Neighbourhood.  Please can you tell 
us when our Engagement and Design Process will start? 

 Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 
d Ben Griffith to Cllr Champion, Executive Member for Environment, Air 

Quality and Transport:  

 

North London papers including the Islington Gazette report that Secretary of 

State Michael Gove has instructed his department to look into the North London 
Waste Authority and its determination to expand incineration capacity in north 
London.  

   
Gove says: “I have asked officials in the department to engage directly with 

NLWA and i ts external auditor Mazars to better understand the 
arrangements the authori ty has in place for decision making, 
including governance, scrutiny and external audit…. Alongside this, I have 

asked that we ascertain how NLWA are managing and delivering the 
[project]….  I expect my officials to make comparisons to other waste 

authorities and large capital projects to provide assurance the NLWA are 
meeting the standards we would expect across the sector.”  
  

To support this investigation, the Stop the Edmonton Incinerator Now (StEIN) 
coalition has written to Gove setting out 34 issues relating to the NLWA and in 

particular: issues related to the Edmonton incinerator contract (11 issues); 
issues related to Mazars’ review of NLWA accounts (7 issues); 
NLWA governance issues (14 issues) and issues related to NLWA 

communications (2 issues).  
 

For example:  

 “An expert assessment shows the plant’s emissions would be twice as 
bad [as landfill] for the environment from its first day of operation – and 
nearly 4 times as bad by the end of its operational life.”  

 ”There will be insufficient waste to incinerate in Edmonton – whether from 
north London or elsewhere – due to enhanced Government legislation 

under the Environment Bill. Defra aims to halve residual waste by 2042.”  
 “NLWA efforts to borrow money for the Edmonton incinerator from the 

Treasury’s Public Works Loan Board and the UK Municipal Bonds 

Agency (UKMBA) are based on misleading claims that the project 
qualifies as “green”, although the EU and emerging UK taxonomies of 

sustainable finance exclude energy-from-waste incineration.”   
 “NLWA has dismissed the widely recognized need for pre-sorting 

technology to extract plastics and other recyclables from the incineration 

stream (pre-sorting reduces CO2 emissions and toxic air pollution, while 
simultaneously boosting recycling revenue and reducing waste arisings).”  

Further detail is available at:   

https://stop-edmonton-incinerator.org/letter-to-secretary-of-state-michael-gove-
issues-of-concern-related-to-the-north-london-waste-authority-nlwa/  

 
What consideration has Islington Council given to the issues raised in the 
correspondence from the Secretary of State and StEIN?  

 
 

 
 
 

 Page 16

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/sqe0CrRVEHo9VvOIzDYFS?domain=nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/sqe0CrRVEHo9VvOIzDYFS?domain=nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com


e Jeremy Maher to Cllr Ward, Executive Member for Finance, Planning 
and Performance:  
 

We gather that Islington Council has now proposed two Councillors to represent 
Islington Council on the Board of the North London Waste Authority (NLWA). 
Could you kindly explain the process and reasonings for deciding who such 

members should be, including the following information:  
 

- which persons are responsible for the selection process and, with whom 

else did they engage with in any discussions or voting regarding the 
decisions;  

- exactly what qualifications, professional experiences and other skills were 
taken into consideration when deciding whom such members should be;  

- once voted or otherwise confirmed as Islington Council’s representatives 
upon the Board of NLWA, who exactly will they then on be held 
accountable to? 

 
  
 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

COUNCIL MEETING – 30 JUNE 2022  
 
 

 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL  
 

 
a  

 
Cllr Gilgunn to Cllr Ward, Executive Member for Finance, Planning and 

Performance: 
 
The current Tory cost of living crisis is having a severe impact on working people 

in Islington, with prices and bills rising but wages stagnating. Could you tell me 
what the Council is doing to help people during this difficult time? 

 

 
b  Cllr Hamdache to Cllr Ward, Executive Member for Finance, Planning 

and Performance: 

 
Does the Council agree with me that it is an outrage that the Planning 
Inspectorate have allowed a new housing development at Highbury Quadrant 

that only provides 28% affordable housing?  
 
 

c Cllr Russell to Cllr Champion, Executive Member for Environment, Air 
Quality and Transport:   
 

With the benefit of hindsight, does the energy contract signed with SSE 
represent value for money?  
 
 

d Cllr Jegorovas-Armstrong to Cllr Champion, Executive Member for 
Environment, Air Quality and Transport:   
 
Both Camden and Hackney councils have switched to fortnightly non-recyclable 
waste collections. Does the council see any benefit to following suit? 

 
 

e Cllr Russell to Cllr Champion, Executive Member for Environment, Air 
Quality and Transport:   

 
Is £28 a year too cheap for parking a Tesla? 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Page 19

Agenda Item 7



 
f  Cllr Hamdache to Cllr Champion, Executive Member for Environment, 

Air Quality and Transport:   

 
At the current rate of building cycle hangars, in what year does the council 
project they will meet demand?  

 
 

g Cllr Jegorovas-Armstrong to Cllr Ngongo, Executive Member for 

Children, Young People & Families:  
 
Why were Islington Boat Club premises temporarily shut? 
 

 
h Cllr Hayes to Cllr Ward, Executive Member for Finance, Planning and 

Performance: 

   
I was delighted to see Fiona Monkman of Islington Architects shortlisted for the 
MJ Long Prize for Excellence in Practice 2022 award recently, for the wonderful 

new social housing on Centurion Close in Islington. We are so proud of our 
social housing in Islington, can you tell me what the Council is doing to make 
sure we not only have as much social housing as possible but that it is on the 

highest possible standard?  
 
 

i Cllr Craig to Cllr Champion, Executive Member for Environment, Air 
Quality and Transport:   
   
The particularly hot weather over the last couple of weeks has affected us all, 

with less well-off residents often feeling the greatest effects, living in less well-
insulated homes, and more likely to be in work that involves greater physical 
strain, and more time outside. The Mayor of London recently issued a map of 

cooler places that Londoners could take shelter, and we know that these long 
spells of intense heat result in poor health and excess deaths. 
 

As the frequency and severity of hot weather increases, what steps is the 
Council taking not only to tackle the climate emergency, but also to mitigate its 
impacts on those set to suffer the most? 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 Page 20



 
 

j Cllr Poyser to Cllr Khondoker, Executive Member for Equalities, Culture 

and Inclusion:   
 
With six years having now passed since the Brexit referendum, the Leave 

campaign’s promises of prosperity, cheaper food, cheaper fuel and a fair 
migration system seem a very long way away. The latter is particularly striking, 
with the Government talking airily of ‘Global Britain’ in the aftermath of the 

result. 
 
But what we’ve got is a migration system that’s progressively crueller, more 
hostile and more deliberately difficult to navigate than ever before – whether for 

people in our own community here in Islington, or those fleeing persecution and 
conflict in Ukraine, Afghanistan and beyond. What steps is the Council taking to 
welcome those seeking a place of sanctuary in our borough, and to campaign 

for a migration system underpinned by fairness, compassion and humanity? 
 
 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Fairer Together 
Town Hall, London N1 2UD  

Report of: Leader of the Council  

Meeting of: Council  

Date:  30 June 2022 

Ward(s): All 

Islington Armed Forces Community Covenant – 
Annual Update 

1. Synopsis 

1.1. Islington Council is committed to recognising and celebrating the invaluable contribution 

made by the Armed Forces, and to supporting veterans and their families in times of 
need. In June 2013, the Council signed the Islington Armed Forces Community 

Covenant, and agreed a package of measures to demonstrate how the spirit of the 
covenant would be delivered in practice. This report summarises activity over the past 
year.  

2. Recommendations 

2.1. To note activity over the past year to celebrate and support Armed Forces personnel, 

veterans, and their families.  

3. Background  

3.1. The Armed Forces Covenant is a national agreement which sets out the relationship 

between the nation, the state and the Armed Forces. It recognises that the whole nation 
has a moral obligation to members of the Armed Forces and their families and 

establishes how they should expect to be treated. It applies to both current and ex-
Forces personnel and their families, with a view to redressing the disadvantages that 
the Armed Forces community faces in comparison to other citizens, and recognising the 

sacrifices they have made.  

3.2. In addition to the national Covenant, the government has encouraged local authorities, 

their partners, and military organisations to sign their own Armed Forces Community 
Covenants, setting out how they will work together to celebrate and support the Armed 
Forces community within their areas.  

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



Page 2 of 11 

3.3. Islington Council and its partners signed the Islington Armed Forces Community 
Covenant in June 2013, and the council backed this up by committing to a package of 

measures to celebrate and support Forces personnel in the borough. Details are set out 
at Appendix A and on our website: Supporting our armed forces | Islington Council   

3.4. The government has also established the Covenant Fund, with £10 million a year 

available for projects across the country to support the ambitions of the Armed Forces 
Covenant. 

4. The Armed Forces population in Islington 

4.1. One of the challenges we face in identifying and targeting support is the limited 
information we have on Armed Forces personnel, veterans and their families. It is 

difficult to get a sense of numbers of Islington residents who are ex-Forces, because 
this is not generally included as a distinct category in national or local services data 

collection.  

4.2. This lack of information has been successfully challenged by the Royal British Legion 
who point out that, despite an estimated 1 in 10 of the UK population having been 

members of the Armed Forces community, there is very limited information about where 
they are or what their needs might be. The Legion’s ‘Count Them In’ campaign, 

supported by Islington Council, has resulted in a new question being added to the 2021 
Census on past membership of the Armed Forces. We will have access to this data by 
the time of our next annual report which can be built in.   

4.3. Going forward, the Government has asked the National Statistician to research 
alternative methods to replace the traditional national census and intermediate 
surveying approach. This is likely to include use of local administrative data. As a 

council, we will work with our Armed Forces and Veteran organisations to ensure that 
any replacement arrangements effectively capture the numbers and needs of the Armed 

Forces community in Islington. 

Military presence 

4.4. Islington is home to the Honourable Artillery Company, the second oldest military 

organisations in the world. It was established by Royal Charter in 1537, and has 
occupied its current site in the south of the borough since 1641. The HAC is a registered 

charity whose purpose is to support the defence of the realm. It supports the HAC 
Regiment (the oldest regiment in the British Army), a detachment of the City of London 
Special Constabulary, plus a number of other charitable activities. The Company 

consists of 2,500 members, around 400 of whom are actively serving with the HAC 
regiment or the detachment of Special Constabulary. The remainder are veterans of the 

HAC Regiment or other military or police services.  

Resident population 

Page 24

https://www.islington.gov.uk/advice/supporting-our-armed-forces


Page 3 of 11 

4.5. There is little information on numbers of Armed Forces personnel or veterans at local 
authority level. The 2011 Census identified 75 Islington residents who were, at that time, 

employed in the Armed Forces. However, the Census did not record details of veterans. 
The results from the 2021 Census will help to provide a more accurate picture of current 
and ex-serving members of the Armed Forces on Islington. The data from the 2021 

Census will be published from July 2022 onwards and will offer more up-to-date data. 

4.6. The Department for Education released Pupil Premium data relating to the 2021/2022 

financial year. This release shows Islington had four children eligible as service children. 
Three are primary age children and the other four are secondary age. 

Street population  

4.7. The Greater London Authority (GLA) publishes data on rough sleeping across London. 
Information is derived from the Combined Homelessness and Information Network 

(CHAIN), a multi-agency database, managed by St Mungos, which captures data on 
people seen rough sleeping in each borough by outreach teams. People are 
categorised as rough sleeping if they have been encountered by an outreach worker 

bedded down on the street or in an open space ‘not designed for habitation’. The 
reports do not include ‘hidden homeless’, for instance those who are ‘sofa surfing’. 

4.8. Figures from 2021/22 provided by CHAIN indicated that there are 236 rough sleepers in 
total in Islington. There were 367 rough sleepers in 2020/2021 (April 2020 – March 
2021) which shows a decrease of 36% rough sleepers in 2021/2022. The overall 

number of ex-Armed Forces remained low. The figures from 2021/22 indicated that 10 
people with experience of the armed forces are known to sleep rough in Islington. This 
is a decrease of 41% from previous year figures (2020/2021 April 2020 – March 2021) 

that indicated that 17 people with experience of the armed forces were known to have 
slept rough in Islington.  

5. Islington Armed Forces Covenant – summary of commitments 

5.1. The commitments set out by the Council to honour the Islington Armed Forces 
Community Covenant focus upon: 

 Recognition, celebration and remembrance: championing the Armed Forces, formally 
marking important events and celebrating achievements and sacrifices  

 Grants for local projects and organisations 

 Support for veterans and their families: financial support, access to council housing, 

employment and skills support, and help with health and social care needs 

5.2. An update on activity in each of these areas is set out below. 

Page 25



Page 4 of 11 

6. Recognition, celebration and remembrance 

Championing the Armed Forces  

6.1. Each year, the Council nominates an elected councillor as its Armed Forces Champion. 
The current champion is Cllr Troy Gallagher. His role includes attending meetings of the 
Youth Organisations in Uniform (YOU) forum and celebration and commemorative 

events, and championing and supporting Armed Forces and veterans in Islington. 

Marking and commemorating key events 

6.2. The past year has seen a number of significant anniversaries related to the Armed 
Forces, over and above the annual commemorations. The Council has played an active 
role in both planning and attending these important occasions to recognise the 

achievements and sacrifices of our Armed Forces.  

6.3. Key events attended by the Mayor, Leader, Armed Forces Champion or other Members 

and officers included: 

 21 June 2021: Mayor, Leader and Chief Executive joined the IVA on the Town Hall 
forecourt for the raising of the Armed Forces Flag  

 26 June 2021: Mayor attended Armed Forces Day event at Islington Green 

 17 September 2021: Mayor attended Armed Forces Veterans breakfast club at St Lukes 

 19 September 2021: Mayor joined the Islington Veterans Association for Battle of Britain 
Anniversary Service at Islington Green 

 21 September 2021: Mayor attended the funeral of Islington D Day Veteran Ken Watts 

 10 November 2021: Mayor and Leader attended a Service of Remembrance at the 

Islington & St Pancras Cemetery 

 11 November 2021: Mayor, Leader and Chief Executive commemorated the Two Minute 
Silence Ceremony inside the Town Hall in front of the War Memorial 

 12 November 2021: Mayor attended the Mayor of London's Annual Service of 
Remembrance at Southwark Cathedral 

 14 November 2021: Mayor and Chief Executive attended Remembrance Day ceremonies 
at Islington Green, Spa Green and Manor Gardens war memorials 

 11 December 2021: Mayor attended a Christmas Lunch with the Islington Veterans 
Association 

 14 December 2021: Mayor hosted an event for the Islington Veterans Association in the 

Mayor’s Parlour 

 22 May 2022: Mayor attended Armed Forces Veterans breakfast club at St Luke’s 

Page 26



Page 5 of 11 

6.4. None of these events could take place without a lot of background work and planning. 
Our Facilities Team at the Town Hall plays a key role in organising the Two Minute 

Silence, Armed Forces Flag Raising, and other events.  

6.5. The Council’s Greenspace Team ensures the safe and smooth running of events in our 
parks and open spaces. Over the past year, the team has:  

 Ensured our parks and memorials were clean and prepared for Remembrance Sunday 
and Armed Forces Day.  

 Supported the IVA with the logistics, planning and health and safety/risk assessments 
and implementation of the event on the day.  

 Ensured that Islington Green was clean for Anzac Day and that the Community Rangers 

provided a presence on the day. 

 

Exhibitions and memorials 

6.6. During the past year, our Libraries and Heritage Service have organised a range of 

activities to celebrate and commemorate the bravery and sacrifices of the Armed Forces 
during the two world wars.  

6.7. The Islington Local History Centre and Islington Museum have continued to collect, 

catalogue and make accessible materials and stories reflecting life in Islington and 
Finsbury during the world wars, as well as in peacetime. They have also collected 

materials that pay tribute to the bravery and endurance of Islington and its people on the 
Home Front during the Second World War; especially rescue crews, fire, police and 
ambulance services and APP, as well as residents.  

6.8. There is ongoing research to update the Islington Online Book of Remembrance, 
including dealing with enquiries from residents and researchers.  

6.9. On Friday 23rd July 2021, Islington Heritage Service invited residents to attend a series 
of events in the Peace Garden of Elthorne Park to unveil a WW2 memorial plaque to 
commemorate the victims of a V2 rocket blast. The Upon Reflection statue by Kevin 

Atherton was reinstalled and unveiled on this day. 

6.10. The Fairness and Equality events team held a number of events on Holocaust Memorial 

Day. This included a talk from Antoinette Mutabazi, a survivor of the 1994 genocide 
against the Tutsi in Rwanda and another by Harry Olmer, telling his story of his time in a 
concentration camp during World War Two. The events team also ran a Holocaust 

Education Workshop for secondary students. 

6.11. Memorial events such as Remembrance Sunday, ANZAC, Day, VE day, and Armed 

Forces Day have seen Islington veterans, council staff, councillors and residents come 
together to honour the bravery of the armed forces. At Armed Forces Day, there was a 
presentation to the borough of Stepping Forward by Field Marshal Sir John Chapple. 

Page 27



Page 6 of 11 

7. Grants and funding 

Local Initiatives Fund 

7.1. The Local Initiatives Fund is a pot of funding available to Islington councillors to support 

events and projects in their wards or across Islington. The majority of the funding is 
allocated to local voluntary sector and community groups. These small amounts of 
money can make a huge difference to local residents and communities.  

7.2. In 2021-22, Local Initiatives Funding has been awarded to: 

 Islington Veterans Association (£1,353) for outside and online events promoting the 

support available through their organisation. Costs were requested for events held from 
February 2020 to August 2021, e.g. Armed Forces Day 2021, ANZAC Day, Armistice 

Day, Remembrance Day, VE Day, VJ Day and Merchant Navy Day.   

 LBI Heritage Services (£1,320) for the restoration of the war memorial at St Silas’ Church. 

Islington Community Chest 

7.3. The Council also works in partnership with Cripplegate Foundation to provide small 
grants through the Islington Community Chest. There have been no applications from 

organisations linked to the Forces or Youth Organisations in uniform (YOU) during the 
past year, but the fund has previously supported organisations such as the scouts and 
the sea cadets. 

Armed Forces Community Covenant Grants Scheme 

7.4. Each year, the Government sets aside £10 million for the Armed Forces Covenant 

Fund, which supports initiatives that contribute towards delivery of the Armed Forces 
Covenant. The Covenant Fund includes a Local Grants Programme, which awards 
grants of up to £20,000 for projects that tackle community integration and delivery of 

local services.  

7.5. There have been no applications from Islington organisations or for Islington based 

projects in in recent years. Details about the Covenant Fund, and how to apply for the 
Local Grants Programme, can be found at https://www.covenantfund.org.uk/. 

8. Supporting veterans and their families 

Financial support 

8.1. The Council’s Benefits Processing team provides financial support for vulnerable 

residents facing hardship in the form of Housing Benefit, Council Tax Support, Social 

Care, and Resident Support Scheme.  

Page 28

https://www.covenantfund.org.uk/


Page 7 of 11 

Support with Housing 

8.2. Veterans and their families are a priority group in terms of help with housing. In 2021-2, 

the Council’s Housing Needs Team supported twelve ex-Armed Forces members who 
were sleeping rough and provided advice, support and accommodation to help them 
leave the streets. Not all housing applicants will have identified themselves as ex-forces 

so numbers supported could be higher. 

8.3. In terms of applications for social housing, we have not received any applications from 

ex-armed forces personnel who have identified themselves in this way. However, not all 
housing applicants will have identified themselves as ex-forces, so numbers supported 
could well be higher. 

8.4. The Council’s Intensive Tenancy Sustainment Team work with residents who present 
with a wider range of intensive and complex support needs. The Team deliver services 

in a trauma-informed way to support tenants to resolve life issues and sustain their 
tenancy through a holistic approach to support. People from an ex-forces background 
would benefit from this approach, where they are experiencing challenges adapting to 

civilian life, but may not disclose this as part of their interaction with the team.  Our 
Income Recover Team also engage with residents who are in rent arrears and offer 

support through a number of services to help residents resolve their financial issues and 
will make wider referrals into support services, where there are wider support needs 
identified.  

Employment and skills 

8.5. Armed Forces veterans and their families are a priority group for employment support 
through the Council’s iWork team and the new Islington Working partnership. The 

service records whether a client has links to the Armed Forces when they are 
registered.  Similarly, veterans are also a priority group for our Adult Learning Service. 

However, neither service has received any requests for support from veterans or their 
families over the past year.  

Health and social care needs 

8.6. Data on whether a client has links to the Armed Forces is not routinely recorded. 
However, our Adult Social Care service does support some people who were previously 

in the Armed Forces, although the numbers are extremely low.  We also support some 
older war veterans from World War II in care settings (such as domiciliary care, 
residential or nursing care) although numbers of are dwindling.  

8.7. Camden and Islington Mental Health Trust refer veterans through two specialist 
Veterans services, both commissioned by NHS England: 

 NHS Veterans’ Mental Health Transition, Intervention and Liaison services (TILs) 

Page 29



Page 8 of 11 

 NHS Veterans’ Mental Health Complex Treatment Service (CTS) 

 Feedback from the Trust is that they see very few Islington residents through these 

specialist services.  

9. Conclusion 

9.1. The commitments set out in our Armed Forces Covenant send an important message 
that the Council and its partners recognise and celebrate the achievements and 

sacrifices of our Armed Forces, and are able to offer practical support to veterans and 
their families in Islington in times of need to help them adjust to and resettle into civilian 
life. 

9.2. Over the past year, the Council has led, organised and supported a wide range of 
activities to celebrate and commemorate the Armed Forces in Islington. And although 

evidence indicates that the number of ex-Forces personnel in Islington is low, with little 
demand for support, it is nonetheless important that we demonstrate our commitment 
and gratitude to veterans by maintaining that package of support should they ever need 

it. We will continue to promote the offer of support to ensure those who need it are able 
to access support.  

Background papers: none  

Appendices 

10. Appendix A: Islington Armed Forces Community Covenant 

 

Signed by: 

 

 

 Leader of the Council                                           Date: 30 June 2022 

  

 

Report Author: Salauoddin Asghar, Head of Fairness and Equality 

Email: Salauoddin.Asghar@islington.gov.uk 

Page 30

mailto:Salauoddin.Asghar@islington.gov.uk


    

 

 

Appendix A 

Islington Armed Forces Community Covenant: 
Council’s Commitment 
 

On 29 June 2013 – Armed Forces Day – the Council signed up to the Islington Armed Forces 
Community Covenant. In doing so it recognised and pledged to promote the valuable 
contribution of and sacrifices made by the Armed Forces and to provide practical support to 

help serving and former members of the Armed Forces and their families living in Islington. 

The Council already has in place a range of support services for residents, particularly for 

families on low incomes, disabled people, those with long term health conditions and vulnerable 
adults and children. Current and ex-serving personnel living in Islington will have access to the 
same services and support as other residents. This document sets out the commitments the 

Council has made, over and above the core offer, to support Armed Forces personnel and their 
families and recognise the contribution they make. We will honour our pledges in the 

community covenant through: 

Financial support 

The income of war widows and war disablement will be disregarded when calculating 

entitlement to: 

 Housing Benefit 

 Council Tax Support 

 Access to financial support through the Resident Support Scheme 

 Payments to veterans under the War Pension Scheme will be fully disregarded in the 
financial assessment for social care charging, with the exception of payments of Constant 
Attendance Allowance, which may be taken into account. 

Access to council housing 

Our housing allocations policy has been amended to support Armed Forces personnel and their 

families applying for council housing in the following circumstances: 

 Service personnel will not be affected by residency restrictions if they have to live outside 

Islington as part of their service 

 Welfare Category B is an award of 80 points and may be awarded in to bereaved spouses 
or civil partners of those serving in the regular forces where the bereaved spouse or civil 

partner has recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled, to reside in Ministry of Defence 

Page 31



Page 10 of 11 

accommodation following the death of their service spouse or civil partner, and the death 
was wholly or partly attributable to their service 

 Welfare Category C is an award of 40 points and may be awarded to applicants whose 
welfare needs are comparable to former members of the regular forces 

 Medical Category A gives the maximum 150 points and will be awarded to serving 
members of the regular forces who are suffering from a serious injury, illness or disability 
which is wholly or partly attributable to their service 

Employment and skills support 

Ex-forces personnel who are facing challenges in securing employment will be eligible for 

support through council employment programmes. This could include support in developing 
new skills and in accessing local vacancies. The discipline, resilience and team spirit of armed 
forces personnel could be a considerable incentive to employers. 

The Council provides employment and skills support to vulnerable groups and / or those facing 
significant barriers as part of its commitment to tackle poverty and inequality in Islington. 

Support for health and social care needs 

The Council will provide: 

 Mental Health First Aid training to Armed Forces organisations / charities enabling them to 

recognise mental health issues and refer on to relevant support 

 Alcohol awareness training to representatives of Armed Forces organisations / charities 

 Support (both financial and practical) with housing adaptations – for those moving to 
private as well as council housing, and refer those with disabilities / longer term health 

conditions onto relevant support services 

Appointment of an Armed Forces Champion 

 Each year the Council will formally nominate a councillor to be the Armed Forces 

Champion, ensuring good relationships with Armed Forces organisations in the borough 
and promoting engagement activities and support. The current Armed Forces Champion 

is Cllr Troy Gallagher. 

Formally recognising the contribution of the Armed Forces 

 The Armed Forces Flag will be flown on the roof of the Town Hall each year on Armed 

Forces Day 

 A Veteran or Cadet of the Year Award will be launched during Armed Forces Week 2014 

to highlight the contribution of individuals 

 Freedom of the Borough has been awarded to: 

Page 32



Page 11 of 11 

- The Honorary Artillery Company in 2009 

- Colonel Brian Kay, the former Deputy Lieutenant in 2010 

Supporting ‘Youth Organisations in Uniform’ 

Islington has a number of Air Training Corps, Army Cadets and Sea Cadets in the borough 
and the Islington Academy has just set up a Combined Cadet Force. The Council will 

support these positive activities for young people through: 

 Active involvement of the Mayor in visiting and supporting the activities of the various 

cadet forces in Islington 

 Access to funding for running costs and activities through the Council’s two small grants 

schemes – the Local Initiatives Fund and Islington Community Chest 

 Chairing meetings of Youth Organisations in Uniform (YOU) which brings together various 
organisations - the Cubs, Scouts, Boys Brigade etc. – to identify opportunities for sharing 

help and resources 

Promote the Community Covenants Grants Scheme 

The government has established a Covenant Fund, with £10m available per year for projects 

across the country which support the priorities of local Armed Forces Community Covenants, 
and which bring together the civilian and Armed Forces communities to promote integration and 

raise awareness of the contribution and sacrifices made by Forces personnel. 

The scheme is administered on a regional basis. Applications can be submitted by any part of 
the community, including voluntary and community sector organisations / charities, community 

interest companies (CICs), local authorities and schools. Projects should deliver tangible results 
and meet the overall aims of the community covenant. 

The Council will promote the Covenant Fund through its links with local Youth Organisations in 
Uniform (YOU), other voluntary and community sector organisations, statutory sector partners, 
schools and local businesses. The Council will also, through the Armed Forces Champion, 

convene a local panel to act as the Local Covenant Partnership (comprising senior Armed 
Forces / Council representatives) to review and support local bids to the Covenant Fund. 

 

Islington Council will work closely with Armed Forces organisations to increase 

understanding of, and address issues faced by, serving and ex-personnel and to 

maximise awareness and take up of the commitments made through this covenant. 

 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

COUNCIL MEETING – 30 JUNE 2022 
 
 

 

NOTICES OF MOTION 
 

  
Motion 1: Fair votes now 
 

Moved by Cllr Benali Hamdache  
Seconded by Cllr Caroline Russell  

This Council notes that: 

 The Labour Party in government successfully implemented Proportional 
Representation to a number of elections, introducing PR into the London 

Assembly, in devolved government for Scotland and Wales and the 
Supplementary vote for the Mayoral elections. 

 With the Welsh Senedd reviewing legislation on Single Transferable Vote for 

local councils, England looks likely to be the only part of the UK without any 
form of PR at local level. 

 After the local elections in 2022 many local councils are currently run by the 
Conservative Party, despite a majority of voters choosing progressive parties.  

 There is a growing movement of supporters for Proportional Representation, 

from unions like Unite to Labour members and CLPs. 
 The last Labour Government put together the Jenkins Commission, which 

recommended the adoption of the AV+ voting system. This system is similar to 
how we vote for the London Assembly, giving voters local representatives and 
regional list members.  

 This Conservative Government won a majority of seats, despite not winning a 
majority of the votes (43.6%) at the last election.  

 This Government has also been waging a war against PR, stripping 
supplementary voting away from Mayoral elections. 

 The UK’s First Past the Post voting system curtails voter choice and leaves 

millions feeling unrepresented by their elected representatives.  

This Council believes:  

 That these factors have contributed to dangerous levels of distrust and 
disillusionment with our democratic process, with more than half of British 
voters saying in response to one recent poll they would support a “strong leader 

willing to break the rules”. 
 That it is essential that faith is restored in our democratic system and that the 

public see Parliament as fairly reflecting their views. 
 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 11



 

 
 

 That our First Past the Post voting system is a significant barrier to restoring 

this faith and all but guarantees that the balance of opinion among the 
electorate is not reflected in Parliament and at local councils. 

 That a system of Proportional Representation in which seats match votes and 
all votes count equally would help to rebuild public trust by ensuring that all 
political views are represented in Parliament and at local councils in proportion 

to their level of public support. 
 That systems of Proportional Representation that maintain a constituency link 

are best, since they mean voters will still have local representatives. Single 
Transferable Vote and AV+ both fulfil this criteria.  

This Council resolves:  

 To make representations to Islington’s two local MPs asking them to support 
Single Transferable Vote for electing local councils, AV+ for Westminster 

elections and the return of Supplementary Vote for Mayoral elections. 
 To oppose this Conservative Government’s efforts to remove existing PR 

systems, and to write a letter to Priti Patel condemning the removal of the 

supplementary vote from London’s elections for Mayor.  
 To use proportional systems in elections managed by Islington Council, for 

instance for the Youth Council via a ranked choice system.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



 

Motion 2: Save Islington’s buses 

 
Proposed by Cllr Gulcin Ozdemir  

Seconded by Cllr Paul Convery 
 
This Council notes:  
 

 Public transport in Islington makes up almost a third of all journeys in the 

borough – second only to walking 

 Buses are the cheapest, most accessible and most popular form of public 

transport in Islington 

 Latest figures state that 16.6% of all journeys in Islington are made by bus, 

which is 43.2% of all public transport journeys in the borough 

 The urgency with which the Council is tackling the climate emergency and the 

importance of public transport in reducing car use  

 That it is estimated that switching just one journey in 25 from car to bus or coach 

can save 2 million tonnes of CO2, and that a fully laden double-

decker bus can take the place of as many as 75 cars on the road 

 Buses were responsible for only 3% of total greenhouse gas emissions by 

transport in the UK in 2019, with cars responsible for 68% 

 Transport for London (TfL) is aiming for all buses in London to be zero emission 

by 2034, at the latest 

 Tf is one of the only major transport networks in the world that doesn’t receive a 

central government grant, since the Central Government cut it 

 The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on TfL’s fare income and the need for 

Central Government support to ensure the continuation of vital public transport 

links in London 

This Council further notes:  
 

 With Central Government delaying funding deals and only agreeing to short-

term funding, TfL is being forced to look at cutting services to balance the 

books 

 The proposals to cut the Number 4 route entirely and major cutbacks to the 

214, 254, 259 and 476 would have a detrimental impact on local people’s ability 

to move around the borough 

 The loss of the Number 4 route in particular would severely impact residents in 

Junction and Tufnell Park wards, as well as those who need to attend 

Whittington Hospital 

 The rerouting of the Number 214 bus would lead to the loss of the service for all 

of Islington. This would have a detrimental impact on the mobility of residents in 

the south of the borough, and could lead to school children needing to use 

multiple buses to get to school 

 At least 1000 people have already signed the Islington Labour petition to Save 

our buses 

 
 
 

 

Page 37



 

 
 
This Council resolves to:  

 

 Call on Central Government to agree a long-term funding deal with TfL that 

would protect public transport and active travel investment in London 

 Campaign to save the Number 4 bus route and oppose cuts to bus routes in 

Islington 

 Work with the Mayor of London to increase the amount of local people walking, 

wheeling or cycling 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 38



 

 
 
Motion 3: Welcoming refugees, migrants and asylum seekers to Islington 

 

Moved by Cllr Roulin Khondoker  

Seconded by Cllr Ilkay Cinko-Oner 
 
This Council notes:  

 

 The contribution of refugees, migrants and asylum seekers to the Borough of 

Islington over many decades, making our borough their home and creating a 

diverse Islington community 

 Central Government’s continued cruel, inhumane treatment of refugees, 

migrants and asylum seekers, including the ‘Hostile Environment’ 

 The Government’s cruel treatment of the Windrush Generation which has 

forced many Islington residents, including several who were born in the UK, to 

go through unnecessary amounts of distress, with some being deported. 

 The Home Office report that found that “during the period 1950-1981, every 

single piece of immigration or citizenship legislation was designed at least in 

part to reduce the number of people with black or brown skin who were 

permitted to live and work in the UK”, leading to the racist treatment of the 

Windrush Generation 

 Islington’s support for the country of Ukraine and its people during the current 

invasion 

 The Government’s shambolic handling of Ukrainian refugees in 2022, originally 

only allowing applications from refuge for those with family or business ties to 

the UK, and the slow pace with which it has allowed Ukrainian refugees to enter 

the country  

 Central Government’s shameful proposal to deport refugees and asylum 

seekers to Rwanda, rather than hearing their asylum claims and allowing 

people to make the UK their home 

 This Government claims that those crossing in small boats are economic 

migrants, but its own figures show this to be false. The largest group (one in 

four, or 1,094) crossing the Channel in small boats in the first three months of 

the year were people fleeing Afghanistan. 

 The difficulties faced by migrants, refugees and asylum seekers, including 

insecure work, lack of access to decent housing and digital exclusion 

 
This Council further notes:  
 

 In 2021, Islington Council committed to becoming a recognised ‘Borough of 

Sanctuary’, to be a welcoming place of safety for all and be somewhere that is 

proud to offer sanctuary to people fleeing violence and persecution 

 That in December 2020, Islington Council refused to co-operate with the 

Conservative Government’s policy to make sleeping rough grounds for 

deportation 

 The Council’s recent celebrations of Refugee Week 2022 in which we publicly 

shared and celebrated the contribution of refugees and migrants in Islington 

 

Page 39



 

 

 That the Council supported 137 asylum and migrant households during the 

COVID 19 pandemic who have No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) due to 

their immigration status, and is currently supporting 36 NRPF households under 

statutory ‘safety net’ duties. The Council receives no funding from Central 

Government to support these households 

 That the Council has helped resettle 63 Syrian refugees since 2015, supported 

65 Afghan refugees into permanent accommodation in Islington, with more to 

come and provided resettlement support to 185 Ukrainian refugees (including 

40 children) across 110 active hosting arrangements in Islington 

 The ‘One Islington’ approach which means that teams and departments across 

the Council work together to support refugees, migrants and asylum seekers in 

the borough  

 In 2021, the Council worked with the Mayor of London to buy back 80 former 

right-to-buy homes, 20 of which will be family-sized homes reserved for Afghan 

refugees 

 The event hosted by the Council in 2022 to celebrate Nowruz with our local 

community 

 The support the Council has given to Ukrainian refugees in recent months, 

including brokering hosting arrangements, authorising cash payments, enrolling 

young people in schools and arranging an event to introduce them to local 

services 

 
This Council resolves to:  

 

 Write to the Government to publicly oppose plans to send asylum seekers to 

Rwanda and to support welcoming all migrants, refugees and asylum seekers 

in the UK 

 Call on the Government to seek to expand safe and legal routes for refugees, 

migrants and asylum seekers to come to the UK, properly fund local authorities 

so they can meet the diverse needs of the communities they serve and make 

legal aid available for immigration cases 

 Write to Arsenal Football Club, asking them to reconsider their sponsorship with 

the Rwandan Government following its role in the UK Government’s shameful 

proposals 

 Continue welcoming all migrants, refugees and asylum seekers who wish to 

make Islington their home 

 Offer support to Ukrainian refugees who are hosted in Islington to ensure they 

have access to vital services and feel at home in our borough 

 Continue to lobby the government to reform the No Recourse to Public Funds 

condition so that people are no longer blocked from fully participating in society 

for years while they wait for their status to be resolved. We will continue to put 

pressure on Central Government to put in place a fully-functional Windrush 

Compensation Scheme. 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



Motion 4: Solidarity with Ukraine migrants in Islington 

 
Proposed by Cllr Ernestas Jegorovas-Armstrong  
Seconded by Cllr Caroline Russell  

This Council notes that: 

 The council has brokered over 192 hosting arrangements with residents willing 
to welcome about 300 Ukrainian refugees into their homes. More than half have 
already arrived and are settling in. 

 The council organised a special event for Ukrainian families living in Islington, 
to find out about the free services available and to get their own library ticket. 

 The council has set up a dedicated web page for Ukrainians arriving in Islington 
with information on housing, financial support, healthcare, travel, education, 

safety. 

 Over 50 children have been enrolled in the borough’s primary and secondary 
schools since the start of the conflict. 

 The council is committed to championing and celebrating diversity, and Mother 
Tongue Supplementary Schools are a huge part of that effort in Islington. 

 The council has processed more than 500 expressions of interest from other 
potential hosts in Islington. 

This Council believes that: 

 Islington stands in solidarity with Ukraine and the Ukrainian people against 

Putin’s illegal invasion. 

 Communities and countries should have the power to determine their own 

future and celebrate their independence.  

 Migrant workers in the UK often are unaware of their rights at work, and this 

lack of knowledge makes them vulnerable to exploitation. Unions are the most 
powerful tools working people have in the fight against exploitation. 

 Islington is best placed to educate displaced children because of its focus on 

‘Trauma Informed Practice’. 

 All refugees are important wherever they are fleeing from. 

This Council therefore resolves: 

 To continue supporting all refugees, working in collaboration with the local 

voluntary and community sector as part of the council’s pledge as a borough of 
sanctuary for those fleeing conflict. 

 To welcome all Islington refugees and asylum seekers to an event at Islington 
Town Hall to celebrate Independence Day of Ukraine on Wednesday 24th 

August and where they will be able to meet relevant Islington Council Staff, 
ward councillors and partner organisations. 

 To share resources with refugees and asylum seekers about the benefits of 

joining a trade union. 

 To share and develop educational resources for schools to support refugees, 

like Educational Above All (EAA) resources for Afghan and Ukrainian refugee 
children. 

 To set up a Mother Tongue and Supplementary school for migrant groups of 
children. 

 To inform host residents of the opportunity to welcome refugees through 

Community Sponsorship. 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Questions from Members of the Public
	7 Questions from Members of the Council
	8 Islington Armed Forces Community Covenant - Annual Update
	11 Notices of Motion

